A Review on Electrochemical Synthesized Copperbased Catalysts for Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂

to C₂₊ Products

Wangxiang Ye^a, Xiaolin Guo*^a, Tingli Ma*^{a,b}

^a College of Materials and Chemistry, China Jiliang University, Hangzhou 310018, P.

R. China. E-mail: guoxiaolin@cjlu.edu.cn; tinglima123@cjlu.edu.cn.

^b Graduate School of Life Science and Systems Engineering, Kyushu Institute of Technology, 2-4 Hibikino, Wakamatsu, Kitakyushu, Fukuoka 808-0196, Japan.

Submitted to

Chemical Engineering Journal

ABSTRACT: In recent decades, catalytic reduction of CO2 is a hot topic in the research field of electrocatalysis. Copper is the only metal catalyst capable of producing multiple carbon (C2+) products in electrocatalytic CO2 reduction (ECR), however, there are still many challenges such as low selectivity, serious hydrogen evolution (HER) and poor stability. So far, various synthesis methods have been developed for Cu-based catalysts. Compared with ordinary chemical synthesis, electrochemical method has the advantages of simple process, controllable conditions, good safety and eco-friendly. In this review, the recent progress in synthesizing different types of Cu-based catalysts by means of the electrochemical method are comprehensively reviewed. The engineering strategies and the effects of the key preparation conditions on the catalytic performance of CO₂ electroreduction for C₂₊ products are discussed in details. Besides, copper-based catalysts synthesized by electrochemical methods combined with the ordinary methods (wet chemical methods, plasma activated methods and other methods) were also outlined. Finally, the development potential of electrochemical synthesis for Cu-based catalysts are recommended, which provides a direction for the future development of Cu-based catalysts with low cost and high ECR performance.

Keywords: Electrochemical synthesis; Copper-based catalyst; Electroreduction of CO₂; C₂₊ products

Contents:

1. Introduction

- 2. Electrochemical synthesized Cu-based catalysts for ECR to $C_{2^+}\xspace$ products
 - 2.1 Monometallic Cu catalysts
 - 2.2 Oxide derived Cu (OD-Cu) catalysts
 - 2.3 Metal modified Cu-based catalyst
- 3. Other methods combined with electrochemical synthesis for Cu-based catalysts
- in ECR with C₂₊ products
 - 3.1 Wet chemical method
 - 3.2 Plasma treatment method
 - 3.3 Other methods
- 4. Summary and outlook

1.Introduction

With the development of the world's economy and society, the growing demand for energy becomes a hot topic and an urgent problem to be solved. Although great progress have been made in the development and utilization of green renewable energy such as solar energy, wind energy and water energy, fossil energy is still the main raw material for social energy supply, accounting for more than 80%.^[1] A large amount of CO₂ emitted from fossil energy combustion is trapped in the atmosphere, which leads to the imbalance of global carbon cycle, resulting in serious global climate change and environmental problems such as greenhouse effect and sea level rise.^[2,3] Thus, in recent years, how to convert CO₂ into high value-added carbonaceous compounds has attracted extensive attention in the aspects of reducing atmospheric CO₂ concentration and alleviating social energy problems. Researchers have developed a series of methods to effectively convert CO2 into useful carbon based compounds, such as chemical conversion,^[4,5] biotransformation,^[6,7] photocatalysis,^[8,9,10] electrocatalysis,^[11,12] etc. Among them, with the aid of the electric energy and appropriate catalysts, the electrocatalytic reduction of CO2 (ECR) could convert CO2 to other carbon products at ambient temperature and pressure. This kind of CO₂ reduction technology driven by renewable energy has good environmental compatibility and adaptability, so it has become a research hotspot in the field of CO₂ conversion.

In essence, the electrocatalytic reduction of CO₂ in aqueous solution is to convert CO₂ into carbon containing products such as carbon monoxide (CO), methane (CH₄), formic acid (HCOOH), methanol (CH₃OH), ethylene (C₂H₄), ethanol (C₂H₃OH) by electron and proton transfer. The chemical equations for each product and the

corresponding standard electrode potential^[13] (V vs. SHE) are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Standard electrode potentials of CO₂ in aqueous solutions (V vs. SHE) at 1.0 atm and 25 °C, calculated according to the standard Gibbs energies of the reactants in reactions.^[13] Copyright 2014, The Royal Society of Chemistry.

Half electrochemical thermodynamic reactions	V vs. SHE	
$CO_2(g) + 2H^+ + 2e^- = HCOOH(I)$	-0.250	1
$CO_2(g) + 2H_2O(I) + 2e = HCOO^{-}(aq) + OH^{-}$	-1.078	2
$CO_2(g) + 2H^+ + 2e^- = CO(g) + H_2O(I)$	-0.106	3
$CO_2(g) + 2H_2O(I) + 2e^- = CO(g) + 2OH^-$	-0.934	4
$CO_2(g) + 6H^+ + 6e^- = CH_3OH(I) + H_2O(I)$	0.016	5
$CO_2(g) + 5H_2O(I) + 6e^- = CH_3OH(I) + 6OH^-$	-0.812	6
$CO_2(g) + 8H^+ + 8e^- = CH_4(g) + 2H_2O(I)$	0.169	\bigcirc
$CO_2(g) + 6H_2O(I) + 8e^- = CH_4(g) + 8OH^-$	-0.659	8
$2CO_2(g) + 12H^+ + 12e^- = CH_2CH_2(g) + 4H_2O(I)$	0.064	9
$2CO_2(g) + 8H_2O(I) + 12e= CH_2CH_2(g) + 12OH^-$	-0.764	10
$2CO_2(g) + 12H^+ + 12e^- CH_3CH_2OH(I) + 3H_2O(I)$	0.084	(1)
2CO ₂ (g) + 9H ₂ O(l) + 12e ⁻ = CH ₃ CH ₂ OH(l) + 12OH-	-0.744	(12)

The above equations are carried out in a standard atmospheric pressure and 25 °C aqueous solution, which only reflects the trend of the reaction without considering the kinetic mechanism of these reactions. In fact, as the applied voltage is satisfied, the reaction priority and reaction rate will change greatly according to electrolyte environment. Moreover, the type of catalyst also has serious effect on the reduction products. Different metal catalysts have disparate adsorption strength for the intermediate products of CO₂ reduction (as indicated by the volcano plot for carbon dioxide reduction on metals (**Figure 1**)),^[14] thus contributes to the obviously different product distribution. In general, metal catalysts can be divided into the following four categories. (1) Pb,^[15] In,^[16] Sn^{[17][18]} and Bi,^[19,20] have weak bind energies to ECR intermediates, in which the C-M (metal) bond always breaks and a large amount of formic acid is produced after the simple two electron reaction of Formula ①. At the

same time, this kind of catalyst, acting as an electron source in the reaction, also combines with H* weakly so that hydrogen evolution reaction is weak; (2) Au,^[21] Ag,^[22] Zn,^[23] Pd^{[24][25]} and Ga,^[26] believed to bind to intermediates stronger than(1), are still kinds of weakly bound metals, and have a slightly stronger adsorption capacity for *H. Therefore, there are not enough protons in the reaction so that most of the reduction products are CO by formula ③; (3) Cu^[27,28,29,30] is the only special metal which can produce C₂₊ compounds by multi electron reaction, which has moderate binding energy for intermediate products that could provide sufficient dimerization reaction time and also suppresses the hydrogen evolution reaction.; (4) The C-M bond of Ni, Fe, Pt and Ti is too strong, which results in serious hydrogen evolution reaction. Besides the metal catalysts, the two-dimensional transition metal carbide/nitride (MXene),^[31,32,33] homogeneous catalyst such as transition-metal complexes with organic ligands^[34] and copper-based multinary sulfides (CMSs)^[35] were also been widely reported and reviewed in the electrocatalytic reduction of CO₂.



Figure 1 Volcano plot for carbon dioxide reduction on metals.^[14] Copyright 2017,

American Association for the Advancement of Science.

Cu-based catalyst has unique properties among metal catalysts and has been considered as an ideal material for electrocatalytic reduction of CO₂ to polycarbonate. Meanwhile, the practical application of Cu-based catalysts in the ECR still faces problems such as low current density, poor selectivity and poor stability. Therefore, developing efficient Cu-based catalysts to achieve the high current density, high C₂₊ selectivity and high stability have become the research hotspots in the area of electrocatalytic reduction of CO2. Many rational design routes have been adopted for enhancing the performance of Cu-based catalysts in ECR, including the structural design (such as two-dimensional,^[36] cubic,^[37] dendritic,^[38] grain boundaries^[39]), size design,^[40] composition design (bimetallic sites,^[40] metalloid dopants)^[42,43] and surface modification.^[44] The operando characterization techniques (operando XAS, timeresolved electron microscopy, in situ electrochemical vibrational spectroscopy) have been applied to study Cu catalysts in situ.^[45,46,47] In recent years, kinds of methods such as wet chemical method, solvothermal method, sol-gel method,^[37] thermal treatment method,^[48] plasma activation^[49] and electrochemical method^[50] were proposed to develop novel Cu-based catalysts. Compared with other methods, electrochemical synthesis mainly has the following advantages: 1. The parameters during electrochemical synthesis can be easily and precisely controlled, including the reaction electrode, current density, applied voltage, electrolyte composition and concentrations; 2. The preparation process is under mild conditions (at room temperature and pressure) with short reaction time. 3. The catalyst layer with good adhesive to on the electrode surface could be in situ formed under electrochemical synthesis, which is more suitable for preparing the electrocatalysts and avoids the dispersion and coating process. Therefore, the electrochemical synthesis has attracted more and more attention of the researchers in the field of Cu-based catalyst for ECR.

In this review, based on the unique advantages of Cu-based catalysts in the electrocatalytic reduction of CO_2 to C_{2+} and of electrochemical method in synthesizing electrocatalysts, the electrochemical synthesis methods of different types of Cu-based catalysts (such as monometallic Cu catalysts, oxide derived Cu catalysts and metal modified Cu-based catalyst) are systematically reviewed (as shown in **Figure 2**). The morphology structure, crystal phase, electronic states and catalytic performance of electrochemical synthesized Cu-based catalysts for electrochemical reduction of CO_2 to C_{2+} products are discussed in details. Besides, copper-based catalysts synthesized by electrochemical methods and other methods) were also outlined in this review. Finally, the development potential and cultivation space of electrochemical synthesized Cu-based Cu-based catalysts for ECR are prospected.



Figure 2 An overview of different types of Cu-based catalysts synthesized by electrochemical method for electrochemical reduction of CO_2 to C_{2+} products.

3. Electrochemical synthesized Cu-based catalysts for ECR to C2+ products

From the point of reaction kinetics, the dimerization reaction of intermediate (*CO) needs to overcome a high potential barrier. However, before the dimerization reaction, *CO tends to desorb and release C_1 product or the excessive adsorbed *H leads to the hydrogen evolution reaction. Hori et al. carried out a series of studies^[51,52,53] and found that CO₂ can be reduced to ethylene and other C₂ products on copper catalysts, which broke new ground for metal catalysts to obtain C₂₊ products in ECR.^[51] Since then, researchers have devoted to developing new Cu-based catalysts with lower over potential, larger current density, and higher selectivity, so as to convert CO₂ into ethylene, ethanol, ethane and other C₂ products, even C₃ and C₄ products. By precisely controlling the structure and morphology of the catalysts, great progress has been made for enhancing the faradic efficiency of C₂₊ products in ECR. In particular, electrochemical synthesis has been widely used in the preparation of electrocatalysts.

ECR reaction, the electrochemical synthesis methods of different types of Cu-based catalysts (such as monometallic Cu catalysts, oxide derived Cu catalysts and metal modified Cu-based catalyst) are mainly summarized in this section. The structure properties and catalytic performance of electrochemical synthesized Cu-based catalysts for electrochemical reduction of CO_2 to C_{2+} products are highlighted in details.

2.1 Monometallic Cu catalysts

Electrodeposition is the most common method to prepare metallic catalyst by electrochemical method. Using a three-electrode device, copper ions in the electrolyte can be electrodeposited on the cathode substrate by applying voltage or current. In electrochemical environment, the electrode surface can be reconstructed by adjusting the electrochemical conditions or changing the composition of the electrolyte.

The morphology of electrodeposits is sensitive to the cathodic potential applied and the electrolyte concentration.^[54,55] T.Pardal et al. performed a series experiments to study the electrodeposition of copper for the electrochemical conversion of CO₂ to C₂ hydrocarbons. By varying the applied electrodeposition potential from -0.55 to -1.15 V vs. SCE for the same value of charge density, the morphologies of different electrodes were developed with dendritic, honeycomb and 3D foam structures. Specifically, as shown in **Figure 3** a, the increase in deposition potential leads to an enhancement of the copper dendrites (sample II and III) and a decrease of dendrite's length and number (sample IV and V). For the electrolyte, the increased concentration of H₂SO₄ aggravated the hydrogen evolution reaction and promote the attachment of the hydrogen bubbles, resulting in copper particles agglomerating around the bubbles to form honeycomb surface as shown in **Figure 3** b (sample VI and VII). In addition, increasing the CuSO₄ concentration raises the comparative reduction of copper ions to HER and consequently the pore size and wall thickness increase (sample VIII). The honeycomb and 3D foam structure formed by this simple method of dynamic hydrogen bubble template allow rapid transport of gas and liquid, and its high surface area is desirable for CO₂ electrochemical reaction, which contributes to the C-C coupling reaction and results in a selective production of C₂ hydrocarbons mixture instead of methane (**Figure 3** c).

Adding additives into the electrolyte are also applied to tailor the morphology of the electrodeposits. In the presence of additives, the three-dimensional structure with high specific surface area can be obtained with strong copper binding additives, while the arrangement of copper atoms could be regulated by the weaker binding additives. Andrew A. Gewirth et al. found that adding DAT (3,5-diamino-1,2,4-triazole), DTAB (Dodecyl trimethylammonium) or benzyl bromide as corrosion inhibitors in copper plating bath could delay the deposition rate of copper and promotes the formation of copper catalyst with high specific surface area.^[56] The N atom in DAT coordinates with copper and reduce the nucleation sites of copper during deposition, which inhibits the growth of the copper deposits and give rise to steps and edges with low-coordinated Cu atoms. In addition, the copper electrode surfaces with different nanostructures such as nanodot, nanowire or amorphous morphology were obtained by controlling the pH value of the electrolyte and the deposition current density (**Figure 3** d-f). Among them, the copper electrode with nanowire structure is the most active in reducing CO₂ to C₂₊ with the FE increased to more than 60% at -0.5 V vs RHE, and a mass activity for CO₂ reduction at -0.7 V vs RHE of ~700 A/g. Different from adding DAT to control the deposition kinetics of copper ions, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) is a kind of inert polymer.^[49] Jinlong Gong et al.^[39] used PVP as the additive in the electrolyte to prepare grain-boundary-rich copper catalyst. Although PVP adsorbed on the copper surface is unstable and easy to desorbed quickly, it has a great impact on the arrangement of copper atoms on the electrode surface, leading to the reduced grain size of copper catalysts with rich grain boundaries (**Figure 3** g). DFT calculation in **Figure 3** h shows that this microstructure with rich grain boundaries can enhance and stabilize the adsorption of *CO. The binding strength of * CO at the convex site (GB1) and concave site (GB2) at the edge of grain boundary (GBs) in **Figure 3** i are stronger than that at other step sites (t1~t7). Moreover, GBs site also changes the coordination of the surrounding atoms and slightly increases the binding energy of * CO at t1, t2 and t7, which is conducive to the further dimerization of * CO, thus improving the selectivity of C₂ products.



Figure 3. (a) SEM images of the electropolished copper electrode and the copper electrodes prepared by electrodeposition under different conditions on copper mesh and copper foil.^[55] Copyright 2013, Elsevier. (b) Schematic representation of the key aspects of the template assisted Cu electrodeposition.^[57] Copyright 2016, American Chemical Society. (c) Current efficiency of gaseous carbon products in the electroreduction of CO₂ at –1.9 V vs Ag/AgCl for different electrodes (see Figure 3 a), after 1 h 15 min of reaction.^[55] Copyright 2013, Elsevier. The SEM images of Copper films deposited in CuSO4 and DAT solutions with different pH and current density: (d) amorphous, (e) wire and (f) dot electrode surfaces were obtained.^[56] Copyright 2017, American Chemical Society. (g) image of rich grain boundary copper films (GB-Cu) deposited by PVP and Cu(NO₃)₂ solutions(GB-Cu).^[39] Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society. (h) Different binding sites on the schemed atomic structure of GB-Cu.^[39] Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society. (i) *CO binding energies in different sites of the schemed structure of GB-Cu.^[39] Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society.

In summary, the applied cathodic voltage and the additives in the electrolyte are the key factors for the metallic Cu electrodeposits on the electrode, which adjust the morphology and structure from the kinetic deposit process that related to the exposed active sites and roughness of the catalyst surface. Via controlling these parameters of the electrodeposition process, the 3D morphology with high surface area, the exposure of low-coordinated Cu and the rich grain boundaries are favorable for the fast mass transfer and the dimerization of *CO, and the higher selectivity of C₂ production.

2.2 Oxide derived Cu (OD-Cu) catalysts

A most promising approach to boosting both efficiency and selectivity for electrochemical reduction of CO_2 is using oxide derived Cu (OD-Cu) electrodes. OD-Cu catalysts usually have rich grain boundaries, multiple low coordination sites and a certain amount of oxygen species, which are considered to be favorable factors for improving catalytic activity and selectivity for C_{2+} products. More importantly, the surface Cu⁺ is believed to play an essential role. Specifically, CO adsorbs on the Cu⁺ site more stable than on the metallic Cu⁰ region. Further CO dimerization between CO bonding Cu⁰ and a neighboring CO banding Cu⁺ has a modest barrier to form the OCCO surface species. It is a favorable dimerization process on the OD-Cu catalysts that improves both kinetics and thermodynamics of C₂ products.^[58] A variety of researches have been reported on the electrochemical synthesis of OD-Cu and its application in ECR reaction.^[59,60,61,62,63,64]

In general, dense Cu_2O films can be obtained directly by electrodeposition in alkaline electrolyte with lactic acid added. Cu^{2+} ion in alkaline solution forms complex

 $[CuL_2 (OH)]^{3-}$ with lactate ion (L²⁻) to prevent precipitation. The complex is reduced to Cu_2O on the surface of cathode. The specific reaction process is as follows:

- Anode: $Cu^{2+} + OH^- + 2L^{2-} \rightarrow [CuL_2(OH)]^{3-}$
- Cathode: $2[CuL_2(0H)]^{3-} + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2O + 4L^{2-} + Cu_2O(s)$

Based on the above reaction process, Jonas Baltrusaitis et al.^[59] prepared various OD-Cu electrodes preferentially oriented in either (100), (110) and (111) directions by adjusting the electrodeposition conditions (Figure 4 a-c). The results indicate there is not much difference in the performance of the samples with different orientations, however, it is certain that the OD-Cu film promotes the formation of C2 with much higher selectivity (Figure 4 d), attributed to their optimized density of steps and edges. Boon Siang Yeo's group^[62] further studied OD-Cu film with various thicknesses from $0.2\mu m$ to 8.8 μm by varying the deposition time. The highest C₂ selectivities were optimized with the 1.7-3.6 µm thick films. Although Cu₂O films were reduced to Cu during CO₂ reduction, the stepped surfaces with edges and terraces promote to dissociate CO₂ and optimize the chemisorption energies of intermediates. Based on the thin film electrode obtained by electrodeposition, Jaeyoung Lee et al.^[65] prepared chloride-induced bi-phasic Cu₂O-Cu catalyst formed by the application of a cathodic potential in the Cl-containing CO2 electrolytic system. The chemo affinity between chloride Cl⁻ and Cu facilitates the formation of a uniquely shaped phase. The lattice fringe spacings of the (111) and (200) facet directions of Cu₂O, as well as the Cu (111) facet direction were shown in HRTEM (Figure 4 e). Cu₂OCl nanoparticles appeared to be transformed into a crystallographic cuboctahedral shape, which enhanced Cu₂O stability and dramatically increased C₃ faradic efficiency to more than 10%.



Figure 4. SEM images of as deposited Cu₂O films with predominant (a) (110), (b) (111) and (c) (100) orientations.^[59] Copyright 2014, Royal Society of Chemistry. (d) FE of gaseous products from CO₂ reduction at -1.1 V vs. RHE for (a) (b) (c).^[59] Copyright 2014, Royal Society of Chemistry. (e) HRTEM images mapping results for the in situ transformed bi-phasic Cu₂O and Cu electrode (Cu₂OCl) by applied cathodic potential for 10 min in 0.1m KCl having different crystal orientation.^[65] Copyright 2015, John Wiley and Sons.

Electrochemical anodization is another common idea for preparing OD-Cu electrode by electrochemical method. Alexis T. Bell's group^[64] compared three kinds of OD-Cu respectively prepared by electrochemical anodization, annealing and chemical oxidation. As shown in **Figure 5** a and b, the annealed Cu₂O electrode had higher selectivity for C₁ products such as CO and formate, while the catalyst prepared by electrochemical method showed better C₂H₄ selectivity on account of the rich oxygen species and mixed copper valence state (Cu²⁺ and Cu⁺). Yun Jeong Hwang et al prepared anodic oxidized Cu(OH)₂ nanowires (AN-Cu) by applying constant current anodic oxidation of copper foil.^[59] XPS spectra and LMM auger peak scanning (**Figure**

5 c and d) showed that the surface of the catalyst was rich in Cu^{2+} , while Cu^{2+} was obviously reduced to low valence species such as Cu^+ and Cu^0 after ECR reaction. The mixed valence copper may be closely related to the intermediates of ethylene production. Besides, the initial reduction condition affected the compositions, surface structure and catalytic activity of the catalysts. For AN-Cu with rapid pre-reduction at high potential (HPR Cu), there was still a small amount of Cu(OH)₂ after the reaction, which was conductive to the selective and stable ethylene production activity for more than 40 hours (**Figure 5** e). On the other hand, for AN-Cu with slow pre-reduction at low potential (LPR Cu), Cu(OH)₂ almost disappeared after pre-reduction although more obvious Cu₂O species were observed, which leads to the fact that LPR Cu became more favorable to methane production after few hours. The results provided a powerful support for the conclusion that mixed valence copper was beneficial to ethylene formation. Tayhas R. Palmore et al.^[66] anodized the copper foil in an electrolyte containing halogen ions to obtain a halide electrode, and subsequent oxide formation in a KHCO₃ electrolyte by the following reaction formula:

$$2CuX(s) + OH^- \leftrightarrow Cu_2O(s) + 2X^- + H^-$$

The preparation diagram is shown in the **Figure 5** f. Via anodic halogenation of Cu followed by surface reconstruction and electroreduction, a surface with high density of defect sites were created, and these sites stabilized species such as Cu⁺ and subsurface oxygen, which were known to promote C₂₊ production during the ECR. Among them, iodized electrode has the best performance with FE_{C2+} of 72.6% due to the high affinity of I⁻ to form CuI.



Figure 5. Faradaic efficiencies of major CO₂RR products from -0.7 V to -1.0 V vs RHE in 0.1 M KHCO₃ for: (a) oxide-derived nanocrystalline copper and (b) electrochemically cycled anodic oxidized copper.^[64] Copyright 2017, American Chemical Society. (c) Cu 2p XPS spectra and (d) Cu LMM Auger spectra of the AN-Cu catalyst measured as-prepared and after 100 min of CO₂RR.^[59] Copyright 2017, American Chemical Society (e) CO₂RR product selectivity of HPR-Cu catalyst on various applied potentials and its SEM image (inset).^[60] Copyright 2017, American Chemical Society. (f)Schematics showing morphology of Cu catalysts. The method used to prepare Cu catalysts for electrochemical CO₂RR: anodic halogenation in KX solutions where X = halogen, oxide formation in basic KHCO₃, and electroreduction in neutral KHCO₃ by LSV. EP-Cu corresponds to electropolished Cu foils, LSV corresponds to linear sweep voltammetry.^[66] Copyright 2020, Springer Nature.

Pulse voltage or current was recently found to be an effective means to prepare OD-Cu catalyst with controlled crystal facet and morphology. The specific crystal facets on surface can be exposed by continuous redox process and it is believed that the crystal facet and edge of Cu (100) are beneficial to the production of ethylene.^[67,68,69] Haotian Wang et al.^[70] creatively proposed a metal ion cycling method, which controlled the surface morphology and crystal surface exposure by adjusting the number of electrochemical cycles (Figure 6 a). Compared with the traditional electrochemical deposition method, the multiple stripping/deposition cycles in Cu(NO₃)₂ solution gradually stabilized a layer of Cu₂O nanocubes on the surface of Cu foil. Under the ECR experiment condition, OD-Cu with regular cubic structure that selectively exposed the Cu (100) crystal face was formed, which improved the FE of C₂₊ products to 60% and inhibits the FE of H₂ below 20%. On the other hand, under pulse potential, the halogen ions also play an important role in tailoring the morphology and structure of the synthesized OD-Cu catalyst. B.S.veo's group^[71] used 0.1M KCl solution as electrolyte, and applied triangular potential on polished copper foil to coarsen Cu surface and form CuCl film. Then cathodic potential was applied in CO₂ saturated KHCO3 solution for in-situ reduction. Since CuCl is easy to spontaneously transform into cubic Cu₂O in solution with pH < 4,^[72] copper surface with regular nano cubic structure is reconstructed under reduction potential as shown in Figure 6 b, and the reconstructed copper particles selectively exposed Cu (100) crystal face with the size of 30-50nm (Figure 6 c-f). In ECR experiments, this special surface structure promoted the higher utilization of active sites on copper and contributes to more and stronger *CO adsorption, leading to the higher selectivity to C₂H₄ and higher stability to a certain extent. The results also confirmed that although the halogen ions in the catalyst were stripped during the pre-reduction process, they played an important role in shaping the special surface structure. Compared with the cubic polycrystalline copper with pulse potential applied by halogen-free electrolyte, the production of C₂H₄ was enhanced and the output of CH4 was inhibited.^[73] Alexis T. Bell et al.^[74] also carried out in-depth research about the influence of halogen ions (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, I⁻) on the structural reconstruction of copper electrodes. The solubilities of CuX species decrease in the order CuF₂> CuCl> CuBr> CuI, which influence the degree of restructuring and the thickness of the Cu₂O layer formed (Figure 6 g-j). As CuF₂ is the most soluble halide salt of Cu, the CuOx films it forms are the most porous and with the largest surface area, which introduce a large number of defects and grain boundaries and are highly selective active sites for C2 product formation. For CuCl, CuBr, and CuI, the CuOx layer takes on a cubic morphology and the density of the CuO_x cubes on the surface follows the order Cl > Br > I. The exposure of a higher number of Cu(100)facets contributes to the increased C2 selectivity. Therefore, the selectivity towards C2 products of CuX derived OD-Cu catalysts follow the order of CuF₂> CuCl> CuBr> CuI, which are all higher than the flat polycrystalline copper surface. Besides using halide solution as electrolyte, Beatriz Roldan Cuenya et al.^[75] recently studied the influence of the presence of carbonate in electrolyte on the morphology and ECR performance of copper electrode prepared by pulse potential circulation method. As shown in Figure 6 k, different from the cube structure formed by adding halogen ions, in the presence of carbonate, the copper electrode surface forms a small pore structure of about 430 nm, which can achieve 71% faraday efficiency for C2+ product and better hydrogen suppression effect. However, in the stability test, the low coordination atoms on the surface were rapidly transformed into nanoparticles, so the structure and activity could not be well maintained in the time scale, which resulted a decreased current density in





Figure 6. (a) Schematic of the Cu²⁺ ion cycling method for Cu₂O and Cu nanocubes (NCs) on Cu foils.^[70] Copyright 2018, Springer Nature. (b) Plausible copper nanoparticle growth mechanism.^[74] Copyright 2016, John Wiley and Sons. (c) HRTEM micrographs of Cu meso crystals after 4200s of ECR.^[72] Copyright 2015, The Royal Society of Chemistry. (d-f) Local enlarged images of (c) (The dark arrows indicate some of the steps and edges present on Cu meso crystals.).^[72] Copyright 2015, The Royal Society of Chemistry. SEM images of polycrystalline Cu cycled in (g) 4 mM KF, (h) 4

mM KCl, (i) 4 mM KBr, (j) 4 mM KI and (k) $0.1M K_2CO_3$ electrolyte (The scale bars in the main images and insets are 1 mm and 200 nm).^[74,75] Copyright 2016, John Wiley and Sons. Copyright 2019, John Wiley and Sons. (l) Schematic illustration of the process to prepare Cu-Complex film on Cu substrate using H₄BTC.^[61] Copyright 2019, Springer Nature. (m) Schematic illustration of in situ electroreduction the process to obtain Cu-Cu₂O/Cu electrode, and reduction current density in 0.1M KCl solution saturated with CO₂ and N₂ at applied potential of -0.4V vs RHE.^[61] Copyright 2019, Springer Nature.

Besides the cathodic electrodeposition of Cu_2O and the anodic oxidized $Cu(OH)_2$ or CuX, in situ electrodeposition of Cu-complex was reported to be an novel method to synthesize OD-Cu catalysts. The ordered porous structure with a large surface area and the excellent ability to adsorb CO_2 make metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) as a promising candidate for ECR. Buxing Han' group^[61] fabricated 3D dendritic Cu-Cu₂O/Cu electrode via two steps, including in situ electrodeposition of Cu-complex (Cu-BTC) film on Cu substrate and in situ electroreduction of Cu^{II} in Cu-complex film (**Figure 6** 1 and m). The in situ electrochemical synthesized Cu-Cu₂O/Cu electrode shows low resistance between the catalyst and substrate of the electrode, as well as the charge transfer resistance between the electrolyte and electrode. The 3D dendritic structure provided the longer residue time of the reaction species and more opportunity for the C-C coupling. Therefore, as the applied potential was as low as -0.4 V vs. RHE, the FE of the 3D dendritic Cu-Cu₂O/Cu electrode for C₂ products reached 80% and the current density of 11.5 mA cm⁻² in ECR.

In summary, the electrochemical methods show promising potential in preparing OD-Cu electrode by different ways, including electrodeposition, electro oxidation or surface reconstruction of Cu-complex. The texture and surface structure properties such as the thickness and crystal facet of Cu₂O layer, the electronic states and the surface oxygen content of OD-Cu could be remarkably regulated by the deposition time, the pulse voltage, the addition of halogen ions and the electroreduction potential, respectively. It is necessary to further explore the relationship between the preparation conditions and the properties of the electrochemical synthesized OD-Cu catalyst, which provides new strategies and opportunities for controlling the selectivity and durability of OD-Cu catalysts for ECR to value-added chemicals.

2.3 Metal modified Cu-based catalyst

Alloying or doping with heteroatoms are the common modification methods used for tuning the catalyst. The addition of foreign atoms not only changes the geometric structure of the parent material, but also regulates the electronic structure and generate synergistic effect between the foreign and parent atoms. Bimetallic sites were expected to regulate the adsorption strength of intermediates, reduce the over potential of the catalyst and promote the reaction path to obtain specific products. As for metal modified Cu-based catalysts, the alloying system such as Cu-Pd,^[76] Cu-Au,^[77] Cu-Sn^[78,79] and other bimetallic systems^[80,81,82] have been extensively investigated. Introducing Au into copper catalyst was identified to enhance the selectivity of CO,^[83,84] while the addition of In could shift the product selectivity of copper catalyst to formic acid.^[85,86,87] The above Cu-based catalysts with C₁ products are not detailly discussed here.

Jaeyoung Lee et al.^[88] prepared Ag-incorporated Cu₂O by electrodeposition method and adjusted the elemental arrangement of the catalyst by varying the electrolyte solution. Phase-separated Ag-Cu₂O_{PS} with well-defined Ag/Cu biphasic boundaries (Figure 7 a-b) was obtained in an NH₃-based electrolyte solution, and a KCN solution was used instead of NH3 for phase-blended Ag-Cu2OPB with good dispersion of Ag and Cu (Figure 7 c-d). The incorporation of Ag into Cu₂O lead to the suppression of hydrogen (H₂) evolution. The Faradaic efficiency for C₂H₅OH on Ag-Cu₂O_{PB} was much higher than that of Ag-Cu₂O_{PS} and was 3 times higher than that of the Cu₂O without Ag dopant. This work emphasized the importance of Ag-Cu biphasic boundaries that could be adjusted by the doping pattern for the production of C₂H₅OH, in which CO generated on Ag was encouraged to mobile as a residual intermediate on a Cu site. Andrew A. Gewirth et al.^[41] prepared nanoporous Cu-Ag alloys by electrodeposition with DAT as inhibitor. The additive DAT in the electrolyte lead to nanowire morphology of the Cu-Ag alloy (Figure 7 e). Compared with monometallic copper nanowire catalyst, Cu-Ag alloy catalyst showed larger active area and higher reduction current density. Although there was no significant change in the amount of hydrogen generated, the faradic efficiency of C₂₊ product was improved, which reaches nearly 60 and 25%, respectively for C₂H₄ and C₂H₅OH. The small amount of Ag (6%) that incorporated in the alloy stabilized the Cu₂O overlayer and the Ag active sites provided optimal availability of the CO intermediate for the dimerization of C2+. Furthermore, Cu-Sn alloy catalyst was also obtained by DAT inhibitor assisted electrodeposition.^[89] Different from Cu-Ag alloys, Cu-Sn alloy film showed a more compact structure and presents a unique spherical particle rather than a nanowire shape, due to the higher nucleation density (Figure 7 f). In situ surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS) showed that Sn can replace Cu₂O on Cu surface and form more active Cu adsorption sites. With the increased adsorption density of *CO on the electrode surface that facilitates C-C coupling reactions, CuSn-DAT has an enhanced FE for CO and C₂H₄ production compared with Cu-DAT and CuAg-DAT.



Figure 7. EDX mapping analysis of (a,b) Ag-Cu₂O_{PS} and (c,d) Ag-Cu₂O_{PB} identifying (a,c) Cu and (b,d) Ag.^[88] Copyright 2017, American Chemical Society. SEM images obtained from (e) CuAg-DAT, and (f) CuSn-DAT samples electrodeposited on a GDL.^[89] Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society. (g) Proposed mechanism for the electroreduction of CO₂ to ethanol on Cu_xZn catalysts.^[90] Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

Zn was identified to be an effective dopant for Cu-based catalyst to enhance the efficiency and selectivity of ECR toward ethanol.^[91,92] Boon Siang Yeo et al.^[90]

prepared a series of Cu-Zn alloy catalysts by electrodeposition with different amounts

of Zn. In the ECR experiments, the ratio of the Faradaic efficiencies between ethanol and ethylene were tuned by a factor of up to ~12.5. Cu₄Zn showed maximized ethanol formation with the Faradaic efficiency and current density of 29.1% and -8.2 mA cm⁻² at -1.05 V vs RHE. Based on the experiments, they proposed a mechanism of CO₂ reduction to ethanol over Cu-Zn Catalyst (**Figure** 7 g): Firstly, proton electron pairs are obtained respectively on the surface of copper and zinc to form *CO, and the *CO on copper is further reduced to *CH₂, while the *CO on the surface of Zn is desorbed and migrated near *CH₂ to form *COCH₂. Then the proton electron pair reduce *COCH₂ to CH₃CHO (acetaldehyde), and finally reduced to CH₃CH₂OH (ethanol). Moreover, the oxides (Cu₂O and ZnO) were rapidly reduced as proved by Raman spectroscopy and no vibration band of *CO was found before the oxides were the key active site of the reaction.

The synergistic effect of Pd and Cu in ECR was also reported recently. Palladium is a good active hydrogen carrier in electrochemical reaction. By forming a co-active site with copper, palladium can promote the hydrogenation of C = C bond and the coupling of C-C, which is an effective way to improve the selectivity and efficiency of alkane.^[93] On the basis of this idea, Andrew A. Gewirth et al. ^[94] designed Cu₂Oderived Cu/PdCl₂ catalyst with PdCl₂ electrodeposited on cuprous oxide film. The catalyst shows a cubic structure with the size of 100 nm, and PdCl₂ nanoparticles were uniformly loaded on the surface of the catalyst (**Figure 8** a). Compared with Pd⁰ islands, PdCl_x islands more favorably adsorbed C₂H₄ and tended to be reduced to Pd⁰ as C₂H₄ is hydrogenated to ethane. Besides, this work also proved that the hydrogenation of C_2H_4 intermediate, rather than the dimerization of two adsorbed *CH₃, was the key reaction path to form C_2H_6 in ECR (**Figure 8** a). Peter Broekmann's group^[94] implemented electro co-deposition of Cu and Pd in acidic electrolyte based on dynamic hydrogen bubble template method, which could not only prepare uniform Pd rich alloy electrode, but also kept porous structure. *CO and *H forms preferentially on the Pd-rich PdCu domains and the stabilization of the chemisorbed *CO on the catalyst surface and the efficient *H-transfer for the hydrogenation of the C-C coupled intermediates further direct the ECR towards multicarbon alcohol formation, which led the selectivity of the C₃ alcohol over the C₂ alcohol by a factor of two to 13.7%.

In addition, rare earth metal hydroxides acting as cocatalysts could adjust the intermediates that adsorbed on the surface of copper, so as to enhance the selectivity for alcohols in ECR. According to the calculation of quantum mechanics,^[96,97] the protons and hydroxyls of the ECR products partly originates from the direct hydrolysis of water. Also, isotope tracking technique indicated that 60-70% of the ethanol contained O that originates from the solvent water rather than CO. The cooperative hydrolysis of *C-CH and H₂O produces *CH-CH(OH) intermediates, and then obtained ethanol. Therefore, the key factor to improve the ethanol selectivity of ECR reaction is to promote hydrolysis by adjusting the active sites. Modifying Cu with metallic oxides or hydroxides were found to effectively promote the hydrolysis process and simultaneously inhibit hydrogen production from HER.^[98] For example, **Figure 8** b show that water dissociation is more favorable on the oxide/hydroxide-doped-Cu

surface (by 0.48 eV and 0.39 eV for Ce and Mn oxide, respectively) in comparison with that on the pure Cu. Edward H. Sargent et al.^[99] used electrodeposition method to cover a layer of cerium hydroxide on the Cu/PTFE electrode to construct the Ce(OH)_x/Cu/PTFE catalyst, which showed a homogeneous distribution of Cu and Ce throughout a single fiber (**Figure 8** c). The branching of ethylene vs. ethanol depends on *HCCOH. If *HCCOH first remove OH and form *CCH, then further hydrogenate to generate ethylene. Conversely, *HCOOH directly hydrogenated into *HCCHOH to produce ethanol. For Ce(OH)_x/Cu/PTFE catalyst, the cerium hydroxide enhance the coverage of H_{ad} that attacks the *HCCOH forming *HCCHOH, which consequently raises the ethanol selectivity in ECR.



Figure 8. (a) The right area is SEM images of Cu₂O electrode after CO₂ reduction with PdCl₂ added to the electrolyte and the left area is schematic illustration of the electrochemical reduction of CO₂ to C_2H_6 via an adsorbed C_2H_4 intermediate on Cu₂O electrode with PdCl_x islands.^[93] Copyright 2015, American Chemical Society. (b) Calculated water dissociation reaction energies and hydrogen adsorption energies on

various surfaces.^[99] Copyright 2020, Springer Nature. (c) STEM image and corresponding EDX mapping for Cu and Ce on Ce(OH)x/Cu/PTFE.^[99] Copyright 2020, Springer Nature.

In summary, the co-electrodeposition of Cu_2O or Cu with adding M^{n+} ions in the electrolyte is widely used in synthesizing the bimetallic Cu-M catalysts. The co-active site with copper in Cu-M catalyst could be regulated via varying the heteroatoms and the preparation conditions (such as deposition potential, the concentration of M^{n+} and the addition of additives and halogen elements). The adsorption energies of the intermediates were greatly influenced by the dispersion and electronic states of the active sites in Cu-M catalyst, in which Cu-M (M= Ag, Zn, Sn, Pd and Cerium hydroxide) catalysts were proved to be active for the production of C_{2+} in ECR.

3. Other methods combined with electrochemical synthesis for Cu-based catalysts in ECR with C₂₊ products

Table 2 summarized the representative works in recent years related to Cu-based catalysts in ECR with C_{2+} products. The performance of each catalyst in ECR was introduced, including the highest C_2 product and Faraday efficiency, as well as maximum stability verified by experiments. The design strategy and conclusive remarks are also summarized. As shown in Table 2, Cu-catalyst synthesized by electrochemical method show quite outstanding performance in ECR, both with the rather high efficiency and stability. However, due to the specific electrode potential of different elements, the single electrochemical method is suitable for preparing the catalyst with simple component, which limits the application in synthesizing multiple-composite samples with complex structure. As listed in Table 2, the combination utilization of electrochemical methods and the ordinary preparation methods (such as

wet chemical methods, thermal and plasma treatment) become a popular strategy for developing Cu-based catalysts with high C_{2+} efficiency, which contributes to break through the limitations of electrochemical method and broadens its application in preparing Cu-based catalysts for C_{2+} products.

Catalyst	Preparation method	Main C ₂ product, FE	Environment (vs.RHE)	Stability	Conclusive remarks	Ref.	
Cu(B)	Precipitation	C ₂ H ₄ , 52.5%	At-1.1V, in 0.1M KCI	40h	Adjust Fermi level, reduce coupling energy	[100]	批注 [h1]: 跟 119 重复
Cu NDs	Precipitation	C ₂ H ₄ , 22.3%	At-1.2V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	7h	High ECSA, efficient electron/mass transfer	[50]	
Multi-hollow Cu2O	Precipitation	$C_2H_4,38.0\pm1.4\%$	At-0.61V, in 2M KOH	3h	Increase and stabilize CO adsorption	[101]	
Cu ₂ S-Cu-V	Solvothermal	C_2H_6O , 24.7±2%	At-0.62V, in 1M KOH	16h	Stabilize CO adsorption and suppress C2H4 path	[102]	
44nm Cu nanocube	Wet chemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 41.0%	At-1.1V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	1h	Balance between plane and edge sites for reaction	[37]	
Cu NW-NH ₂	Wet chemical	C ₂ H ₆ , 24.0%	At-1.9V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	20h	Reduce energy barrier for CHO*	[44]	
4H Cu	Wet chemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 44.9%	At-1.1V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	9h	Lower Gibbs energy of COOH	[103]	
Cu-on-Cu₃N	Wet chemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 39.0±2%	At-0.65V, in 0.1M KHCO3	15h	Protection of active species	[104]	
ERD Cu	Wet chemical, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 36.0%	At-1.0V, in 0.1M KHCO3	1h	Sharper structures improve current densities and local pH	[105]	
Reconstructed Cu	Wet chemical, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 56.0%	At-1.4V, in 0.1M KHCO3	-	Increase surface active sites	[106]	
F-Cu	Solvothermal, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 65.2%	At-0.89V, in 0.75M KOH	40h	Accelerate H ₂ O dissociation and electron transfer	[107]	
Cu ₂ O thin films	Solvothermal, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 31.0%	At-0.98V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	70min	Efficient CO adsorption with small nanoparticle	[108]	批注 [b2]· 正文中没有提到
HPR-LDH	Precipitation, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 36.3%	At-1.1V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	20h	High ECSA, efficient charge transfer	[109]	Mut [ne]. LX T Q H (E)
CuO _x -Vo	Thermal treatment, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 63.0%	At-1.4V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	13h	Facilitate the adsorption of *CO, *COH intermediates	[38]	
3D porous CuO	Thermal treatment, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 35.8%	At-1.3V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	2h	Rapid gas transport	[109]	
Cu np120	Thermal treatment, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 35.0%	At-1.3V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	8h	High ECSA, expose low-coordinated steps and edges	[111]	
Plasma-activated Cu	Plasma treatment, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , ~45%	At-1.0V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	5h	Regeneration of active species	[112]	
30 /70 Cu Mesopore	Sputtering, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ , 46.0%	At-1.3V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	4h	Prolongation of reaction time	[113]	
Cu₃N-D Cu NWs	CVD, electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 66.0%	At-1.0V, in 0.1M KHCO3	28h	Abundant grain boundaries	[114]	
CSNP	Electrospray	C ₂ H ₄ , 48.7%	At-1.0V, in 0.1M KHCO3	20h	Suppress H ₂ evolution	[115]	
Cu mesocrystal	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 27.2%	At-0.99V, in 0.1M KHCO3	6h	Increase and stabilize CO adsorption	[72]	
100-cycle Cu	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 32.0%	At-0.96V, in 0.25M KHCO3	2h	Expose Cu (100)	[70]	
Cu_CO ₃	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , ~47%	At-0.95V, in 0.1M KHCO3	22h	High ECSA, low-coordinated sites	[75]	
CuDAT-wire	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , ~40%	At-0.5V, in 1M KHCO ₃	8h	low-coordinated steps and edges	[56]	
GB-Cu	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , ~38%	At-1.2V, in 1M KOH	3h	Increase and stabilize CO adsorption	[39]	
Porous OD-Cu	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ , 37.0%	At-0.7V, in 0.5M NaHCO ₃	1h	Trap gaseous intermediates	[57]	
Cu4Zn	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ O, 29.1%	At-1.05V, in 0.1M KHCO3	10h	Increase the population of free CO	[90]	
HPR-Cu	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 38.1%	At-1.08V, in 0.1M KHCO3	40h	Abundant oxygen state of the Cu	[60]	
Prism-shaped Cu	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , 27.8%	At-1.1V, in 0.1M KHCO ₃	12h	Modification of the local pH	[116]	
Ag-Cu ₂ O _{PB}	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ O, 34.1%	At-1.2V, in 0.1M KHCO3	3h	Ag-Cu biphasic boundaries effect	[88]	
CuAg-wire	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₄ , ~60%	At-0.7V, in 1M KOH	-	Inhibit reduction of active species	[41]	
Cu-PdCl _x	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ , 30.1%	At-1.0V, in 0.1M KHCO3	1.5h	Provide hydrogenation sites	[94]	
Ce(OH) _x /Cu/PTFE	Electrochemical	C ₂ H ₆ O, 43.0%	At-0.7V, in 1M KOH	6h	Promote the dissociation of water	[99]	

Table 2. Kinds of representative Cu-based catalysts used to produce C_{2+} products in ECR in recent years

3.1 Wet chemical method

Wet chemical synthesis is the most commonly used methods for the metal oxide nanoparticles, including precipitation, sol-gel, solvothermal, reverse micelle and flow synthesis. The combination utilization of electrochemical methods and wet chemical synthesis for Cu-based catalysts in ECR is mainly related to two paths: Electrodeposition \rightarrow wet chemical oxidation \rightarrow electroreduction or Wet chemical synthesis \rightarrow in-situ electrochemical reconstruction. ^[107]

David Sinton et al.^[63] oxidized electrodeposited copper electrode by using chemical oxidation with H2O2 to obtain porous OD-Cu films with high roughness, and the formed oxide layer was reduced to bare Cu at ECR process, giving an oxide-derived Cu reaction surface. The OD-Cu electrode maintains the porosity of the electrodeposited Cu based on the hydrogen bubble dynamic template method (Figure 9 a-d). The ethylene efficiency of the prepared samples reached more than 30% with the current density of higher than 35mA cm⁻². Even if the Cu⁺ on the surface are rapidly reduced, the Cu⁺ species introduced on the subsurface can also enhance the coupling to a certain extent. Edward H. Sargent et al.^[105] reported a series of the electro-redeposited copper (ERD Cu) with in situ reconstitution of the sol-gel Cu₂(OH)₃Cl precursors by applying cathodic current. As the reduction potential increasing from -0.7V to -1.4V (vs. RHE), the content of Cu₂O in the samples gradually decreased, and the nanostructures changed from needle to dendrite. It showed that this electrochemical insitu reduction method promotes the formation of sharp nanostructure with high curvature surface to stabilize Cu⁺, which promotes the C-C coupling and thus the current density of ethylene (160 mA cm⁻² at - 1.0 V vs. RHE). Similarly, Edward H. Sargent^[106] used a wet chemical process, providing uniformity of the electrode morphology and abundant active sites on an initial Cu (I) chloride layer which is

subsequently converted to a Cu (I) oxide surface. The reconstructed Cu surface was achieved by electrochemically reducing the formed Cu(I) oxide layer as shown in schematic illustration (**Figure 9** f). The reconstruction process may change the Cu surface from a stable facet such as (111) to a more C_2 selective facet such as (100), leading to a higher selectivity for C_2 products. Yuhan Sun et al.^[50] prepared two-dimensional copper phosphate nanosheets by wet chemical method, and obtained three-dimensional nano dendritic polycrystalline copper catalyst after in-situ electrochemical reconstruction by ECR (**Figure 9** e). At a lower initial potential, the yields of ethylene and C_3 (n-PrOH and propionaldehyde) on Cu dendrites were 70-120% and 60-220% higher than those of Cu nanoparticles, respectively.



Figure 9. (a-d) SEM Images of four different electrodeposited Cu electrodes that have undergone a wet-chemical oxidation process.^[63] Copyright 2017, Royal Society of Chemistry. (e) Schematic illustration of the synthesis of CP NDs and the electrogrowth process of the Cu dendrites, starting from the Cu particles as raw materials.^[50] Copyright 2020, American Chemical Society. (f) Schematic illustration of the surface reconstruction process.^[106] Copyright 2018, John Wiley and Sons

3.2 Plasma treatment method

Plasma treatment could rapidly change the chemical state and produce highly active

defect site on the materials' surface at room temperature, which showed great potential

in tailoring the surface structure and compositions of catalysts. Beatriz Roldan Cuenya's group^[49] combined electrochemical method and plasma treatment to prepare OD-Cu catalysts. The catalysts with porous oxide surface layer synthesized by electrochemical cycling of Cu foil in KCl solution followed by oxygen plasma treatment of Cu nano cube catalysts.^[112] This study showed that the plasma treatment could systematically adjust the shape, ion content and the stability of the copper catalyst under electrochemical conditions. The presence of oxygen in the surface and subsurface regions of the catalyst was pivotal to achieve high activity and hydrocarbon/alcohol selectivity, even more important than the existence of Cu (100) surface, which made the FE of C₂₊ products increase to 73%.^[112] The active substances in plasma, including electrons, ions, free radicals and photons, form a large number of low coordination active sites on the catalyst surface and enhance the catalytic performance of copper catalyst in ECR.^[117] Furthermore, they developed oxidized copper catalysts displaying lower overpotentials and 60% Faradic efficiency towards ethylene through a facile and tunable plasma treatments ^[49]. In the O₂ plasma treatment process, the wires merged, forming a highly roughened surface and became highly porous. Then the sample reduced by H₂ plasma and formed Cu, CuO, Cu₂O multilayer structure, based on EDS elemental maps (Figure 10 a). In general, longer and higher power O₂ plasma treatment increases the roughness factor and the efficiency was limited by mass transfer effect in the research (Figure 10 b). The multilayer structure can be stable in the ECR process and maintain high catalytic activity due to the continuous Cu⁺ supply from the subsurface layer.

3.3 Other methods

The combined utilization of different methods integrates the advantages of the insitu construction of the electrochemical methods for Cu-based electrode and the flexibility of the other method, which contributes to develop the ideal catalyst with high ECR activity and stability on the electrode. So far, various novel preparation methods were also proposed and combined with the electrochemical methods, which significantly broadens the application of electrochemical methods in synthesizing different types of electrocatalysts.

Xin Wang et al.^[111] developed a kind of dealloying method to prepare porous copper catalyst. Firstly, a layer of zinc film was grown on the surface of copper foil by electrodeposition method. Dense copper zinc alloy was formed on the surface of copper foil due to the easy diffusion of zinc atom into copper lattice, and then zinc in alloy was stripped by alkaline solution to obtain porous copper catalyst (**Figure 10** c). With increasing the degree of the dealloying treatment, the crystalline orientation on the surface was altered to Cu (100) and the large amount of exposed crystalline steps and edges were formed, which inhibited the formation of methane and promoted the reaction tendency to produce ethylene.

Ki Tae Nam et al.^[113] reported a novel strategy to precisely control the pore structure of copper electrode in order to make clear of the relationship between the pore size and the reaction path of ECR. They prepared a substrate with uniform wavy surface by anodic oxidation of alumina under applied voltage and deposited copper on the wave crest of the substrate to make the surface aperture and the hole depth uniform (**Figure 10** d-g). The pore size and depth of the catalyst are accurately controlled by changing the deposition time. High-depth pore in the catalyst is in favor of increasing the production of ethane, and the low-depth pore is conducive to produce ethylene, while large pore size in the catalyst is adverse to the formation of C_{2+} products (**Figure 10** h).

Liu^[114] and Sargent^[104] developed the nitrogen atom modified Cu catalyst for ECR via the electrochemical methods and other procedures. Xijun Liu et al.^[114] utilized

chemical vapor deposition with the nitridation process under NH₃ flow on Cu(OH)₂ nanowires to synthesized Cu₃N NWs, and the catalyst (Cu₃N-derived Cu) was obtained by an in-situ electroreduction method. Cu₃N-derived Cu NWs with a high density of grain boundaries exhibited enhanced ECR performance for C₂ products and high stability for more than 28 hours. Edward H. Sargent et al.^[104] designed a novel catalyst composed of Cu deposited on Cu₃N with the suppressed reduction of Cu⁺, achieving higher selectivity for C₂₊ formation. As shown in **Figure 10** i and j, after the replacement of the long-chain octadecylamine ligands with short-chain azide, the modified Cu₃N crystals went through facile electroreduction process to produce the active Cu-on-Cu₃N catalyst.



Figure 10. (a) The EDS elemental maps of Cu foils treated with O₂ plasma 100 W 2 min + H₂ plasma.^[49] Copyright 2016, Springer Nature (b) Summary of hydrocarbon selectivity of plasma-treated Cu foils.^[49] Copyright 2016, Springer Nature (d) Scheme for preparing Cu mesopore electrodes. SEM images of mesopores with e) 30 nm width /40 nm depth, f) 30 nm width /70 nm depth, and g) 300 nm width /40 nm depth. Scale bar=60 nm for (e, f) and scale bar=300 nm for (g). (h) Chemical selectivities for (e-g) at -1.7 V vs. NHE.^[113] Copyright 2016, John Wiley and Sons. (i) Schematic illustration of the synthesis of Cu₃N-derived Cu NWs.^[114] Copyright 2019, John Wiley and Sons. (j) Schematic of preparing the Cu-on-Cu₃N catalyst.^[104] Copyright 2018, Springer Nature.

4. Summary and outlook

In this review, we reviewed the progress of various electrochemical methods in developing Cu-based catalysts for electrochemical reduction of CO_2 to C_{2+} products. Electrochemical method is becoming a widely used technique for electrode synthesis in electrocatalysis. However, there still have huge development potential and cultivation space for the electrochemical synthesized Cu-based catalyst for ECR in aqueous solutions. Based on the current research progress and the blank space in this research field, it is recommended that further research be carried out from the following five aspects:

1) The metalloid dopants (N, B, P, S) were reported to adjust the density of surface vacancies of Cu catalyst and form stable surface defects, which notably affects the CO binding and C_{2+} production.^[102,118,119] The electrosynthesis of metalloid-doped Cu catalyst was rarely reported except for the above mentioned CuN₃ derived Cu electrode. Recently, phosphorus-doped Cu (Cu-P) prepared by the electrodeposition method was explored as the C_{2+} products promoters for ECR, due to the more facile conversion of linear bounded *CO intermediate.^[46] Thus, further researches are encouraged to focus on developing the electrochemical synthesis methods for different metalloid-doped Cu catalyst and exploring their application potential in ECR.

2) Cu₂O sites could be in situ formed from Cu-based MOF via a facile electroreduction process due to the orderly distributed Cu-O₄ nodes. Considering the synergistic effect of the metal modified Cu catalyst, the controllable electrochemical deposition of the bimetallic Cu/M-MOFs is a promising strategy for further tailoring the MOF-derived Cu catalysts for ECR. Moreover, the electrochemical synthesis of two-dimensional conductive Cu-MOF is also meaningful to be developed due to that the electron conduction channel of two-dimensional framework materials play important role in the electrochemical reaction process. 3) Surface modification is one important strategy to tune the selectivity. For example, Cu nanowire electrodes modified by amino acids and their derivatives stabilized the and facilitated C_{2+} hydrocarbon formation, owning to the strong interaction between the -NH₂ groups and intermediate CHO*.^[44] Thus, in situ modification of Cu electrodeposit surface with specific functional group is prone to be a feasible and efficient strategy to further enhance the C_{2+} products in ECR.

4) For Cu-based catalyst in ECR, the Cu electrode/electrolyte interface is a very complex reaction involving multiple proton and electron transfers. The electrocatalyst generally undergoes structure reconstruction under the applied potential. Applying advanced operando techniques (optical, X-ray and electron-based techniques) and theoretical calculation methods are highly demanded to characterize the morphology, crystal facet and electronic states of the electrochemical synthesized Cu catalyst under real operating CO2RR process, which would shed light on understanding the reaction mechanism and provide further guidance for the catalyst development.

5) Because of its low synthesis cost and easy scalability, electrochemical synthesis allows the large-scale production of Cu coated electrode, which is particularly attractive for the production of catalyst electrodes for use in electrochemical reduction of CO₂. Therefore, Large-scale experiment related to the scalable Cu-based catalyst needs be performed by choosing appropriate electrochemical conditions and accurately adjusting the parameters of the electrochemical method, for the industrialization of CO₂ electrocatalytic reduction.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the financial supports from National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 51972293) and Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (No. LQ21B030012).

References:

- [1] H. Yang, Z. Xu, M. Fan, R. Gupta, R.B. Slimane, A.E. Bland, I. Wright, Progress in carbon dioxide separation and capture: A review, J. ENVIRON. SCI.-CHINA. 20 (2008) 14-27. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(08)60002-9.
- [2] P. Friedlingstein, R.M. Andrew, J. Rogelj, G.P. Peters, J.G. Canadell, R. Knutti, G. Luderer, M.R. Raupach, M. Schaeffer, D.P. van Vuuren, C. Le Quéré, Persistent growth of CO₂ emissions and implications for reaching climate targets, NAT GEOSCI. 7 (2014) 709-715. doi:10.1038/ngeo2248.
- [3] N.S. Lewis, D.G. Nocera, Powering the planet: Chemical challenges in solar energy utilization, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 103 (2006) 15729. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603395103.
- [4] Z. Shi, H. Yang, P. Gao, X. Chen, H. Liu, L. Zhong, H. Wang, W. Wei, Y. Sun, Effect of alkali metals on the performance of CoCu/TiO₂ catalysts for CO₂ hydrogenation to long-chain hydrocarbons, CHINESE J. CATAL. 39 (2018) 1294-1302. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1872-2067(18)63086-4.
- [5] M.K. Gnanamani, H.H. Hamdeh, W.D. Shafer, S.D. Hopps, B.H. Davis, Hydrogenation of carbon dioxide over iron carbide prepared from alkali metal promoted iron oxalate, Applied Catalysis A: General. 564 (2018) 243-249. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2018.07.034.
- [6] S.K. Bhatia, R.K. Bhatia, J. Jeon, G. Kumar, Y. Yang, Carbon dioxide capture and bioenergy production using biological system - A review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 110 (2019) 143-158. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.070.
- [7] A. Ghayur, T.V. Verheyen, E. Meuleman, Biological and chemical treatment technologies for waste amines from CO₂ capture plants, J. ENVIRON. MANAGE. 241 (2019) 514-524. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.07.033.
- [8] I.I. Alkhatib, C. Garlisi, M. Pagliaro, K. Al-Ali, G. Palmisano, Metal-organic frameworks for photocatalytic CO₂ reduction under visible radiation: A review of strategies and applications, CATAL. TODAY. 340 (2020) 209-224. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2018.09.032.
- X. Li, J. Yu, M. Jaroniec, X. Chen, Cocatalysts for Selective Photoreduction of CO₂ into Solar Fuels, CHEM. REV. 119 (2019) 3962-4179. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00400.
- [10] J. Albero, Y. Peng, H. García, Photocatalytic CO₂ Reduction to C₂₊ Products, ACS CATAL. 10 (2020) 5734-5749. doi:10.1021/acscatal.0c00478.
- [11] S. Nitopi, E. Bertheussen, S.B. Scott, X. Liu, A.K. Engstfeld, S. Horch, B. Seger, I.E.L. Stephens, K. Chan, C. Hahn, J.K. Nørskov, T.F. Jaramillo, I. Chorkendorff, Progress and Perspectives of Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction on Copper in Aqueous Electrolyte, CHEM. REV. 119 (2019) 7610-7672. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00705.
- [12] Y.Y. Birdja, E. Pérez-Gallent, M.C. Figueiredo, A.J. Göttle, F. Calle-Vallejo, M.T.M. Koper, Advances and challenges in understanding the electrocatalytic conversion of carbon dioxide to fuels, NAT ENERGY. 4 (2019) 732-745. doi:10.1038/s41560-019-0450-y.
- [13] J. Qiao, Y. Liu, F. Hong, J. Zhang, A review of catalysts for the electroreduction of carbon dioxide to produce low-carbon fuels, CHEM. SOC. REV. 43 (2014) 631-675. doi:10.1039/C3CS60323G.
- [14] Z.W. Seh, J. Kibsgaard, C.F. Dickens, I. Chorkendorff, J.K. Norskov, T.F. Jaramillo, Combining theory and experiment in electrocatalysis: Insights into materials design, SCIENCE. 355 (2017) doi:10.1126/science.aad4998.
- [15] C.X. Zhao, Y.F. Bu, W. Gao, Q. Jiang, CO2 Reduction Mechanism on the Pb(111) Surface: Effect of Solvent and Cations, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C. 121 (2017) 19767-19773. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.7b04375.
- [16] F. Ye, J. Gao, Y. Chen, Y. Fang, Oxidized indium with transformable dimensions for CO₂ electroreduction toward formate aided by oxygen vacancies, SUSTAIN ENERG FUELS. 4 (2020) 3726-3731. doi:10.1039/D0SE00498G.
- [17] X. Zheng, P. De Luna, F.P. García De Arquer, B. Zhang, N. Becknell, M.B. Ross, Y. Li, M.N. Banis, Y. Li, M. Liu, O. Voznyy, C.T. Dinh, T. Zhuang, P. Stadler, Y. Cui, X. Du, P. Yang, E.H. Sargent, Sulfur-Modulated Tin Sites Enable Highly Selective Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to Formate, Joule. 1 (2017) 794-805. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2017.09.014.
- [18] S. Zhang, P. Kang, T.J. Meyer, Nanostructured Tin Catalysts for Selective Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Formate, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 136 (2014) 1734-1737. doi:10.1021/ja4113885.
- [19] P. Deng, H. Wang, R. Qi, J. Zhu, S. Chen, F. Yang, L. Zhou, K. Qi, H. Liu, B.Y. Xia, Bismuth Oxides with Enhanced Bismuth - Oxygen Structure for Efficient Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Formate, ACS CATAL. 10 (2019) 743-750. doi:10.1021/acscatal.9b04043.
- [20] A. Atifi, T.P. Keane, J.L. DiMeglio, R.C. Pupillo, D.R. Mullins, D.A. Lutterman, J. Rosenthal,

Insights into the Composition and Function of a Bismuth-Based Catalyst for Reduction of CO₂ to CO, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C. 123 (2019) 9087-9095. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b00504.

- [21] M. Liu, Y. Pang, B. Zhang, P. De Luna, O. Voznyy, J. Xu, X. Zheng, C.T. Dinh, F. Fan, C. Cao, F.P.G. de Arquer, T.S. Safaei, A. Mepham, A. Klinkova, E. Kumacheva, T. Filleter, D. Sinton, S.O. Kelley, E.H. Sargent, Enhanced electrocatalytic CO₂ reduction via field-induced reagent concentration, NATURE. 537 (2016) 382-386. doi:10.1038/nature19060.
- [22] Y.S. Ham, S. Choe, M.J. Kim, T. Lim, S. Kim, J.J. Kim, Electrodeposited Ag catalysts for the electrochemical reduction of CO₂ to CO, Applied Catalysis B: Environmental. 208 (2017) 35-43. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2017.02.040.
- [23] F. Lei, W. Liu, Y. Sun, J. Xu, K. Liu, L. Liang, T. Yao, B. Pan, S. Wei, Y. Xie, Metallic tin quantum sheets confined in graphene toward high-efficiency carbon dioxide electroreduction, NAT COMMUN. 7 (2016) 12697. doi:10.1038/ncomms12697.
- [24] A. Klinkova, P. De Luna, C. Dinh, O. Voznyy, E.M. Larin, E. Kumacheva, E.H. Sargent, Rational Design of Efficient Palladium Catalysts for Electroreduction of Carbon Dioxide to Formate, ACS CATAL. 6 (2016) 8115-8120. doi:10.1021/acscatal.6b01719.
- [25] R. Xia, S. Zhang, X. Ma, F. Jiao, Surface-functionalized palladium catalysts for electrochemical CO₂ reduction, J. MATER CHEM A. 8 (2020) 15884-15890. doi:10.1039/D0TA03427D.
- [26] C. Yan, L. Lin, D. Gao, G. Wang, X. Bao, Selective CO₂ electroreduction over an oxide-derived gallium catalyst, J. MATER CHEM A. 6 (2018) 19743-19749. doi:10.1039/C8TA08613C.
- [27] L. Zhang, Z. Zhao, J. Gong, Nanostructured Materials for Heterogeneous Electrocatalytic CO₂ Reduction and their Related Reaction Mechanisms, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 56 (2017) 11326-11353. doi:10.1002/anie.201612214.
- [28] Y.Z.J.H. Yan Yang, Progress in the Mechanisms and Materials for CO₂ Electroreduction toward C₂₊ Products, 2020, pp. 1906085.
- [29] H. Xie, T. Wang, J. Liang, Q. Li, S. Sun, Cu-based nanocatalysts for electrochemical reduction of CO₂, NANO TODAY. 21 (2018) 41-54. doi:10.1016/j.nantod.2018.05.001.
- [30] B. Zhang, J. Zhang, Rational design of Cu-based electrocatalysts for electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide, J. ENERGY CHEM. 26 (2017) 1050-1066. doi:10.1016/j.jechem.2017.10.011.
- [31] A.D. Handoko, S.N. Steinmann, Z.W. Seh, Theory-guided materials design: two-dimensional MXenes in electro- and photocatalysis, NANOSCALE HORIZ. 4 (2019) 809-827. doi:10.1039/C9NH00100J.
- [32] K.R.G. Lim, A.D. Handoko, S.K. Nemani, B. Wyatt, H. Jiang, J. Tang, B. Anasori, Z.W. Seh, Rational Design of Two-Dimensional Transition Metal Carbide/Nitride (MXene) Hybrids and Nanocomposites for Catalytic Energy Storage and Conversion, ACS NANO. 14 (2020) 10834-10864. doi:10.1021/acsnano.0c05482.
- [33] A. Liu, X. Liang, X. Ren, W. Guan, M. Gao, Y. Yang, Q. Yang, L. Gao, Y. Li, T. Ma, Recent Progress in MXene-Based Materials: Potential High-Performance Electrocatalysts, ADV. FUNCT. MATER. 30 (2020) 2003437. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202003437.
- [34] S. Zhang, Q. Fan, R. Xia, T.J. Meyer, CO₂ Reduction: From Homogeneous to Heterogeneous Electrocatalysis, ACCOUNTS CHEM. RES. 53 (2020) 255-264. doi:10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00496.
- [35] M.D. Regulacio, Y. Wang, Z.W. Seh, M. Han, Tailoring Porosity in Copper-Based Multinary Sulfide Nanostructures for Energy, Biomedical, Catalytic, and Sensing Applications, ACS Applied Nano Materials. 1 (2018) 3042-3062. doi:10.1021/acsanm.8b00639.
- [36] M. Wu, C. Zhu, K. Wang, G. Li, X. Dong, Y. Song, J. Xue, W. Chen, W. Wei, Y. Sun, Promotion of CO₂ Electrochemical Reduction via Cu Nanodendrites, ACS APPL MATER INTER. 12 (2020) 11562-11569. doi:10.1021/acsami.9b21153.
- [37] A. Loiudice, P. Lobaccaro, E.A. Kamali, T. Thao, B.H. Huang, J.W. Ager, R. Buonsanti, Tailoring Copper Nanocrystals towards C₂ Products in Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 55 (2016) 5789-5792. doi:10.1002/anie.201601582.
- [38] Z. Gu, N. Yang, P. Han, M. Kuang, B. Mei, Z. Jiang, J. Zhong, L. Li, G. Zheng, Oxygen Vacancy Tuning toward Efficient Electrocatalytic CO₂ Reduction to C₂H₄, Small Methods. 3 (2019) 1800449. doi:10.1002/smtd.201800449.
- [39] Z. Chen, T. Wang, B. Liu, D. Cheng, C. Hu, G. Zhang, W. Zhu, H. Wang, Z. Zhao, J. Gong, Grain-Boundary-Rich Copper for Efficient Solar-Driven Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction to Ethylene and Ethanol, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 142 (2020) 6878-6883. doi:10.1021/jacs.0c00971.
- [40] R. Reske, H. Mistry, F. Behafarid, B. Roldan Cuenya, P. Strasser, Particle Size Effects in the Catalytic Electroreduction of CO₂ on Cu Nanoparticles, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 136 (2014) 6978-6986. doi:10.1021/ja500328k.
- [41] T. Hoang, S. Verma, S. Ma, T.T. Fister, J. Timoshenko, A.I. Frenkel, P. Kenis, A.A. Gewirth,

Nanoporous Copper-Silver Alloys by Additive-Controlled Electrodeposition for the Selective Electroreduction of CO₂ to Ethylene and Ethanol, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 140 (2018) 5791-5797. doi:10.1021/jacs.8b01868.

- [42] Y. Deng, Y. Huang, D. Ren, A.D. Handoko, Z.W. Seh, P. Hirunsit, B.S. Yeo, On the Role of Sulfur for the Selective Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to Formate on CuS_x Catalysts, ACS APPL MATER INTER. 10 (2018) . doi:10.1021/acsami.8b08428.
- [43] Z. Yin, C. Yu, Z. Zhao, X. Guo, M. Shen, N. Li, M. Muzzio, J. Li, H. Liu, H. Lin, J. Yin, G. Lu, D. Su, S. Sun, Cu₃N Nanocubes for Selective Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to Ethylene, NANO LETT. 19 (2019) 8658-8663. doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b03324.
- [44] M.S. Xie, B.Y. Xia, Y. Li, Y. Yan, Y. Yang, Q. Sun, S.H. Chan, A. Fisher, X. Wang, Amino acid modified copper electrodes for the enhanced selective electroreduction of carbon dioxide towards hydrocarbons, ENERG ENVIRON SCI. 9 (2016) 1687-1695. doi:10.1039/C5EE03694A.
- [45] A.D. Handoko, F. Wei, Jenndy, B.S. Yeo, Z.W. Seh, Understanding heterogeneous electrocatalytic carbon dioxide reduction through operando techniques, Nature Catalysis. 1 (2018) 922-934. doi:10.1038/s41929-018-0182-6.
- [46] H. Li, X. Qin, T. Jiang, X. Ma, K. Jiang, W. Cai, Changing the Product Selectivity for Electrocatalysis of CO₂ Reduction Reaction on Plated Cu Electrodes, CHEMCATCHEM. 11 (2019) doi:10.1002/cctc.201901748.
- [47] T. Möller, F. Scholten, T.N. Thanh, I. Sinev, J. Timoshenko, X. Wang, Z.P. Jovanov, G. Manuel, B. Roldan Cuenya, A.S. Varela, reduction on CuO_x nanocubes tracking the evolution of chemical state, geometric structure, and catalytic selectivity using Operando Spectroscopy, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. (2020)
- [48] W. Zhang, C. Huang, Q. Xiao, L. Yu, L. Shuai, P. An, J. Zhang, M. Qiu, Z. Ren, Y. Yu, Atypical Oxygen-Bearing Copper Boosts Ethylene Selectivity toward Electrocatalytic CO₂ Reduction, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. (2020) doi:10.1021/jacs.0c01562.
- [49] H. Mistry, A.S. Varela, C.S. Bonifacio, I. Zegkinoglou, I. Sinev, Y. Choi, K. Kisslinger, E.A. Stach, J.C. Yang, P. Strasser, B.R. Cuenya, Highly selective plasma-activated copper catalysts for carbon dioxide reduction to ethylene, NAT COMMUN. 7 (2016) doi:10.1038/ncomms12123.
- [50] M. Wu, C. Zhu, K. Wang, G. Li, X. Dong, Y. Song, J. Xue, W. Chen, W. Wei, Y. Sun, Promotion of CO₂ Electrochemical Reduction via Cu Nanodendrites, ACS APPL MATER INTER. 12 (2020) 11562-11569. doi:10.1021/acsami.9b21153.
- [51] Y. Hori, K. Kikuchi, S. Suzuki, Production of CO and CH₄ in electrochemical reduction of CO₂ at metal electrodes in aqueous hydrogenearbonate solution, CHEM. LETT. 14 (1985) 1695-1698. doi:10.1246/cl.1985.1695.
- [52] Y. Hori, H. Wakebe, T. Tsukamoto, O. Koga, Electrocatalytic process of CO selectivity in electrochemical reduction of CO₂ at metal electrodes in aqueous media, ELECTROCHIM. ACTA. 39 (1994) 1833-1839. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4686(94)85172-7.
- [53] Y. Hori, Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction on Metal Electrodes. in: C.G. Vayenas, R.E. White, and M.E. Gamboa-Aldeco, (Eds.), Modern Aspects of Electrochemistry, Springer New York, New York, NY, (2008) 89-189.
- [54] N.D. Nikolić, K.I. Popov, L.J. Pavlović, M.G. Pavlović, Morphologies of copper deposits obtained by the electrodeposition at high overpotentials, Surface and Coatings Technology. 201 (2006) 560-566. doi:10.1016/j.surfcoat.2005.12.004.
- [55] M.R. Gonçalves, A. Gomes, J. Condeço, T.R.C. Fernandes, T. Pardal, C.A.C. Sequeira, J.B. Branco, Electrochemical conversion of CO₂ to C₂ hydrocarbons using different ex situ copper electrodeposits, ELECTROCHIM. ACTA. 102 (2013) 388-392. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2013.04.015.
- [56] T.T.H. Hoang, S. Ma, J.I. Gold, P.J.A. Kenis, A.A. Gewirth, Nanoporous Copper Films by Additive-Controlled Electrodeposition: CO₂ Reduction Catalysis, ACS CATAL. 7 (2017) 3313-3321. doi:10.1021/acscatal.6b03613.
- [57] A. Dutta, M. Rahaman, N.C. Luedi, M. Mohos, P. Broekmann, Morphology Matters: Tuning the Product Distribution of CO₂ Electroreduction on Oxide-Derived Cu Foam Catalysts, ACS CATAL. 6 (2016) 3804-3814. doi:10.1021/acscatal.6b00770.
- [58] H. Xiao, W.A. Goddard, T. Cheng, Y. Liu, Cu metal embedded in oxidized matrix catalyst to promote CO₂ activation and CO dimerization for electrochemical reduction of CO₂, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 114 (2017) 6685. doi:10.1073/pnas.1702405114.
- [59] R. Kas, R. Kortlever, A. Milbrat, M.T.M. Koper, G. Mul, J. Baltrusaitis, Electrochemical CO₂ reduction on Cu₂O-derived copper nanoparticles: controlling the catalytic selectivity of hydrocarbons, PHYS. CHEM. CHEM. PHYS. 16 (2014) 12194-12201. doi:10.1039/C4CP01520G.
- [60] S.Y. Lee, H. Jung, N. Kim, H. Oh, B.K. Min, Y.J. Hwang, Mixed Copper States in Anodized Cu

Electrocatalyst for Stable and Selective Ethylene Production from CO₂ Reduction, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 140 (2018) 8681-8689. doi:10.1021/jacs.8b02173.

- [61] Q. Zhu, X. Sun, D. Yang, J. Ma, X. Kang, L. Zheng, J. Zhang, Z. Wu, B. Han, Carbon dioxide electroreduction to C₂ products over copper-cuprous oxide derived from electrosynthesized copper complex, NAT COMMUN. 10 (2019) 1-11. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11599-7.
- [62] D. Ren, Y. Deng, A.D. Handoko, C.S. Chen, S. Malkhandi, B.S. Yeo, Selective Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Ethylene and Ethanol on Copper(I) Oxide Catalysts, ACS CATAL. 5 (2015) 2814-2821. doi:10.1021/cs502128q.
- [63] Y. Pang, T. Burdyny, C. Dinh, M.G. Kibria, J.Z. Fan, M. Liu, E.H. Sargent, D. Sinton, Joint tuning of nanostructured Cu-oxide morphology and local electrolyte programs high-rate CO₂ reduction to C₂H₄, GREEN CHEM. 19 (2017) 4023-4030. doi:10.1039/C7GC01677H.
- [64] Y. Lum, B. Yue, P. Lobaccaro, A.T. Bell, J.W. Ager, Optimizing C C Coupling on Oxide-Derived Copper Catalysts for Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C. 121 (2017) 14191-14203. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.7b03673.
- [65] S. Lee, D. Kim, J. Lee, Electrocatalytic Production of C₃-C₄ Compounds by Conversion of CO₂ on a Chloride-Induced Bi-Phasic Cu₂O-Cu Catalyst, Angewandte Chemie. 127 (2015) 14914-14918. doi:10.1002/ange.201505730.
- [66] T. Kim, G.T.R. Palmore, A scalable method for preparing Cu electrocatalysts that convert CO₂ into C₂₊ products, NAT COMMUN. 11 (2020) doi:10.1038/s41467-020-16998-9.
- [67] Y. Hori, I. Takahashi, O. Koga, N. Hoshi, Electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide at various series of copper single crystal electrodes, Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical. 199 (2003) 39-47. doi:10.1016/S1381-1169(03)00016-5.
- [68] K.J.P. Schouten, E. Pérez Gallent, M.T.M. Koper, Structure Sensitivity of the Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Monoxide on Copper Single Crystals, ACS CATAL. 3 (2013) 1292-1295. doi:10.1021/cs4002404.
- [69] S. Kuang, M. Li, R. Xia, L. Xing, Y. Su, Q. Fan, J. Liu, E.J.M. Hensen, X. Ma, S. Zhang, Stable Surface-Anchored Cu Nanocubes for CO₂ Electroreduction to Ethylene, ACS Applied Nano Materials. 3 (2020) 8328-8334. doi:10.1021/acsanm.0c01745.
- [70] K. Jiang, R.B. Sandberg, A.J. Akey, X. Liu, D.C. Bell, J.K. Nørskov, K. Chan, H. Wang, M.P.C.U. SLAC National Accelerator Lab., B.C.U.S. Lawrence Berkeley National Lab. LBNL, Metal ion cycling of Cu foil for selective C C coupling in electrochemical CO₂ reduction, Nature Catalysis. 1 (2018) 111-119. doi:10.1038/s41929-017-0009-x.
- [71] H. Liu, Y. Zhou, S.A. Kulinich, J. Li, L. Han, S. Qiao, X. Du, Scalable synthesis of hollow Cu₂O nanocubes with unique optical properties via a simple hydrolysis-based approach, J. MATER CHEM A. 1 (2013) 302-307. doi:10.1039/C2TA00138A.
- [72] C.S. Chen, A.D. Handoko, J.H. Wan, L. Ma, D. Ren, B.S. Yeo, Stable and selective electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide to ethylene on copper mesocrystals, CATAL SCI TECHNOL. 5 (2015) 161-168. doi:10.1039/C4CY00906A.
- [73] F.S. Roberts, K.P. Kuhl, A. Nilsson, High Selectivity for Ethylene from Carbon Dioxide Reduction over Copper Nanocube Electrocatalysts, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 54 (2015) 5179-5182. doi:10.1002/anie.201412214.
- [74] Y. Kwon, Y. Lum, E.L. Clark, J.W. Ager, A.T. Bell, CO₂ Electroreduction with Enhanced Ethylene and Ethanol Selectivity by Nanostructuring Polycrystalline Copper, CHEMELECTROCHEM. 3 (2016) 1012-1019. doi:10.1002/celc.201600068.
- [75] D. Gao, I. Sinev, F. Scholten, R.M. Arán Ais, N.J. Divins, K. Kvashnina, J. Timoshenko, B. Roldan Cuenya, Selective CO₂ Electroreduction to Ethylene and Multicarbon Alcohols via Electrolyte -Driven Nanostructuring, Angewandte Chemie. 131 (2019) 17203-17209. doi:10.1002/ange.201910155.
- [76] S. Ma, M. Sadakiyo, M. Heima, R. Luo, R.T. Haasch, J.I. Gold, M. Yamauchi, P.J.A. Kenis, Electroreduction of Carbon Dioxide to Hydrocarbons Using Bimetallic Cu - Pd Catalysts with Different Mixing Patterns, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 139 (2017) 47-50. doi:10.1021/jacs.6b10740.
- [77] D. Kim, J. Resasco, Y. Yu, A.M. Asiri, P. Yang, Synergistic geometric and electronic effects for electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide using gold - copper bimetallic nanoparticles, NAT COMMUN. 5 (2014) 4948. doi:10.1038/ncomms5948.
- [78] Q. Li, J. Fu, W. Zhu, Z. Chen, B. Shen, L. Wu, Z. Xi, T. Wang, G. Lu, J. Zhu, S. Sun, Tuning Sn-Catalysis for Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to CO via the Core/Shell Cu/SnO₂ Structure, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 139 (2017) 4290-4293. doi:10.1021/jacs.7b00261.
- [79] K. Ye, Z. Zhou, J. Shao, L. Lin, D. Gao, N. Ta, R. Si, G. Wang, X. Bao, In Situ Reconstruction of a Hierarchical Sn - Cu/SnO_x Core/Shell Catalyst for High - Performance CO₂ Electroreduction,

Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 59 (2020) 4814-4821. doi:10.1002/anie.201916538.

- [80] X. Guo, Y. Zhang, C. Deng, X. Li, Y. Xue, Y. Yan, K. Sun, Composition dependent activity of Cu - Pt nanocrystals for electrochemical reduction of CO₂, CHEM. COMMUN. 51 (2015) 1345-1348. doi:10.1039/C4CC08175G.
- [81] N. Todoroki, N. Yokota, S. Nakahata, H. Nakamura, T. Wadayama, Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ on Ni- and Pt-Epitaxially Grown Cu(111) Surfaces, ELECTROCATALYSIS-US. 7 (2016) 97-103. doi:10.1007/s12678-015-0286-6.
- [82] M. Watanabe, M. Shibata, A. Katoh, T. Sakata, M. Azuma, Design of alloy electrocatalysts for CO₂ reduction: Improved energy efficiency, selectivity, and reaction rate for the CO₂ electroreduction on Cu alloy electrodes, Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry and Interfacial Electrochemistry. 305 (1991) 319-328. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0728(91)85528-W
- [83] J. Choi, M.J. Kim, S.H. Ahn, I. Choi, J.H. Jang, Y.S. Ham, J.J. Kim, S. Kim, Electrochemical CO₂ reduction to CO on dendritic Ag - Cu electrocatalysts prepared by electrodeposition, CHEM. ENG. J. 299 (2016) 37-44. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016.04.037.
- [84] D. Kim, J. Resasco, Y. Yu, A.M. Asiri, P. Yang, Synergistic geometric and electronic effects for electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide using gold - copper bimetallic nanoparticles, NAT COMMUN. 5 (2014) 4948. doi:10.1038/ncomms5948.
- [85] Z.B. Hoffman, T.S. Gray, K.B. Moraveck, T.B. Gunnoe, G. Zangari, Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Syngas and Formate at Dendritic Copper – Indium Electrocatalysts, ACS CATAL. 7 (2017) 5381-5390. doi:10.1021/acscatal.7b01161.
- [86] W. Lv, J. Zhou, F. Kong, H. Fang, W. Wang, Porous tin-based film deposited on copper foil for electrochemical reduction of carbon dioxide to formate, INT. J. HYDROGEN ENERG. 41 (2016) 1585-1591. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.11.100.
- [87] Y. Wang, J. Zhou, W. Lv, H. Fang, W. Wang, Electrochemical reduction of CO₂ to formate catalyzed by electroplated tin coating on copper foam, APPL. SURF. SCI. 362 (2016) 394-398. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2015.11.255.
- [88] S. Lee, G. Park, J. Lee, Importance of Ag Cu Biphasic Boundaries for Selective Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to Ethanol, ACS CATAL. 7 (2017) 8594-8604. doi:10.1021/acscatal.7b02822.
- [89] X. Chen, D.A. Henckel, U.O. Nwabara, Y. Li, A.I. Frenkel, T.T. Fister, P.J.A. Kenis, A.A. Gewirth, Controlling Speciation during CO₂ Reduction on Cu-Alloy Electrodes, ACS CATAL. 10 (2020) 672-682. doi:10.1021/acscatal.9b04368.
- [90] D. Ren, B.S. Ang, B.S. Yeo, Tuning the Selectivity of Carbon Dioxide Electroreduction toward Ethanol on Oxide-Derived Cu_xZn Catalysts, ACS CATAL. 6 (2016) 8239-8247. doi:10.1021/acscatal.6b02162.
- [91] A.H.M. Da Silva, S.J. Raaijman, C.S. Santana, J.M. Assaf, J.F. Gomes, M.T.M. Koper, Electrocatalytic CO₂ reduction to C₂₊ products on Cu and Cu_xZn_y electrodes: Effects of chemical composition and surface morphology, J. ELECTROANAL. CHEM. 880 (2021) 114750. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelechem.2020.114750.
- [92] H. Arakawa, Research and development on new synthetic routes for basic chemicals by catalytic hydrogenation of CO₂. in: T. Inui, M. Anpo, K. Izui, S. Yanagida, and T. Yamaguchi, (Eds.), Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis, Elsevier, (1998) 19-30.
- [93] S. Strömberg, M. Svensson, K. Zetterberg, Binding of Ethylene to Anionic, Neutral, and Cationic Nickel(II), Palladium(II), and Platinum(II) cis/trans Chloride Ammonia Complexes. A Theoretical Study, ORGANOMETALLICS. 16 (1997) 3165-3168. doi:10.1021/om970261q.
- [94] C.S. Chen, J.H. Wan, B.S. Yeo, Electrochemical Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Ethane Using Nanostructured Cu₂O - Derived Copper Catalyst and Palladium(II) Chloride, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C. 119 (2015) 26875-26882. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b09144.
- [95] M. Rahaman, K. Kiran, I.Z. Montiel, V. Grozovski, A. Dutta, P. Broekmann, Selective n-propanol formation from CO₂ over degradation-resistant activated PdCu alloy foam electrocatalysts, GREEN CHEM. 22 (2020) 6497-6509. doi:10.1039/D0GC01636E.
- [96] H. Xiao, T. Cheng, W.A. Goddard, Atomistic Mechanisms Underlying Selectivities in C₁ and C₂ Products from Electrochemical Reduction of CO on Cu(111), J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 139 (2016) 130-136. doi:10.1021/jacs.6b06846.
- [97] Y. Lum, T. Cheng, W.A. Goddard, J.W. Ager, Electrochemical CO Reduction Builds Solvent Water into Oxygenate Products, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 140 (2018) 9337-9340. doi:10.1021/jacs.8b03986.
- [98] C. Dinh, A. Jain, F.P.G. de Arquer, P. De Luna, J. Li, N. Wang, X. Zheng, J. Cai, B.Z. Gregory, O. Voznyy, B. Zhang, M. Liu, D. Sinton, E.J. Crumlin, E.H. Sargent, Multi-site electrocatalysts for hydrogen evolution in neutral media by destabilization of water molecules, NAT ENERGY. 4 (2019) 107-114. doi:10.1038/s41560-018-0296-8.

- [99] M. Luo, Z. Wang, Y.C. Li, J. Li, F. Li, Y. Lum, D. Nam, B. Chen, J. Wicks, A. Xu, T. Zhuang, W.R. Leow, X. Wang, C. Dinh, Y. Wang, Y. Wang, D. Sinton, E.H. Sargent, Hydroxide promotes carbon dioxide electroreduction to ethanol on copper via tuning of adsorbed hydrogen, NAT COMMUN. 10 (2019) doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13833-8.
- [100] Y. Zhou, F. Che, M. Liu, C. Zou, Z. Liang, P. De Luna, H. Yuan, J. Li, Z. Wang, H. Xie, H. Li, P. Chen, E. Bladt, R. Quintero-Bermudez, T. Sham, S. Bals, J. Hofkens, D. Sinton, G. Chen, E.H. Sargent, Dopant-induced electron localization drives CO₂ reduction to C₂ hydrocarbons, NAT CHEM. 10 (2018) 974-980. doi:10.1038/s41557-018-0092-x.
- [101] P. Yang, X. Zhang, F. Gao, Y. Zheng, Z. Niu, X. Yu, R. Liu, Z. Wu, S. Qin, L. Chi, Y. Duan, T. Ma, X. Zheng, J. Zhu, H. Wang, M. Gao, S. Yu, Protecting Copper Oxidation State via Intermediate Confinement for Selective CO₂ Electroreduction to C₂₊ Fuels, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 142 (2020) 6400-6408. doi:10.1021/jacs.0c01699.
- [102] T. Zhuang, Z. Liang, A. Seifitokaldani, Y. Li, P. De Luna, T. Burdyny, F. Che, F. Meng, Y. Min, R. Quintero-Bermudez, C.T. Dinh, Y. Pang, M. Zhong, B. Zhang, J. Li, P. Chen, X. Zheng, H. Liang, W. Ge, B. Ye, D. Sinton, S. Yu, E.H. Sargent, Steering post-C - C coupling selectivity enables high efficiency electroreduction of carbon dioxide to multi-carbon alcohols, Nature catalysis. 1 (2018) 421-428. doi:10.1038/s41929-018-0084-7.
- [103] Y. Chen, Z. Fan, J. Wang, C. Ling, W. Niu, Z. Huang, G. Liu, B. Chen, Z. Lai, X. Liu, B. Li, Y. Zong, L. Gu, J. Wang, X. Wang, H. Zhang, Ethylene Selectivity in Electrocatalytic CO₂ Reduction on Cu Nanomaterials: A Crystal Phase-Dependent Study, J. AM. CHEM. SOC. 142 (2020) 12760-12766. doi:10.1021/jacs.0c04981.
- [104] Z.Q. Liang, T.T. Zhuang, A. Seifitokaldani, J. Li, C.W. Huang, C.S. Tan, Y. Li, P. De Luna, C.T. Dinh, Y. Hu, Q. Xiao, P.L. Hsieh, Y. Wang, F. Li, R. Quintero-Bermudez, Y. Zhou, P. Chen, Y. Pang, S.C. Lo, L.J. Chen, H. Tan, Z. Xu, S. Zhao, D. Sinton, E.H. Sargent, Copper-on-nitride enhances the stable electrosynthesis of multi-carbon products from CO₂, NAT COMMUN. 9 (2018) 3828. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-06311-0.
- [105] P. De Luna, R. Quintero-Bermudez, C. Dinh, M.B. Ross, O.S. Bushuyev, P. Todorović, T. Regier, S.O. Kelley, P. Yang, E.H. Sargent, Catalyst electro-redeposition controls morphology and oxidation state for selective carbon dioxide reduction, Nature Catalysis. 1 (2018) 103-110. doi:10.1038/s41929-017-0018-9.
- [106] M.G. Kibria, C.T. Dinh, A. Seifitokaldani, P. De Luna, T. Burdyny, R. Quintero Bermudez, M.B. Ross, O.S. Bushuyev, F.P. García De Arquer, P. Yang, D. Sinton, E.H. Sargent, A Surface Reconstruction Route to High Productivity and Selectivity in CO₂ Electroreduction toward C₂₊ Hydrocarbons, ADV. MATER. 30 (2018) 1804867. doi:10.1002/adma.201804867.
- [107] W. Ma, S. Xie, T. Liu, Q. Fan, J. Ye, F. Sun, Z. Jiang, Q. Zhang, J. Cheng, Y. Wang, Electrocatalytic reduction of CO₂ to ethylene and ethanol through hydrogen-assisted C - C coupling over fluorinemodified copper, Nature catalysis. 3 (2020) 478-487. doi:10.1038/s41929-020-0450-0.
- [108] A.D. Handoko, C.W. Ong, Y. Huang, Z.G. Lee, L. Lin, G.B. Panetti, B.S. Yeo, Mechanistic Insights into the Selective Electroreduction of Carbon Dioxide to Ethylene on Cu₂O - Derived Copper Catalysts, Journal of physical chemistry. C. 120 (2016) 20058-20067. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b07128.
- [109] N. Altaf, S. Liang, L. Huang, Q. Wang, Electro-derived Cu-Cu₂O nanocluster from LDH for stable and selective C₂ hydrocarbons production from CO₂ electrochemical reduction, J. ENERGY CHEM. 48 (2020) 169-180. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jechem.2019.12.013.
- [110] J. Lv, M. Jouny, W. Luc, W. Zhu, J. Zhu, F. Jiao, A Highly Porous Copper Electrocatalyst for Carbon Dioxide Reduction, ADV. MATER. 30 (2018) 1803111. doi:10.1002/adma.201803111.
- [111] Y. Peng, T. Wu, L. Sun, J.M.V. Nsanzimana, A.C. Fisher, X. Wang, Selective Electrochemical Reduction of CO₂ to Ethylene on Nanopores-Modified Copper Electrodes in Aqueous Solution, ACS APPL MATER INTER. 9 (2017) 32782-32789. doi:10.1021/acsami.7b10421.
- [112] D. Gao, I. Zegkinoglou, N.J. Divins, F. Scholten, I. Sinev, P. Grosse, B. Roldan Cuenya, Plasma-Activated Copper Nanocube Catalysts for Efficient Carbon Dioxide Electroreduction to Hydrocarbons and Alcohols, ACS NANO. 11 (2017) 4825-4831. doi:10.1021/acsnano.7b01257.
- [113] K.D. Yang, W.R. Ko, J.H. Lee, S.J. Kim, H. Lee, M.H. Lee, K.T. Nam, Morphology Directed Selective Production of Ethylene or Ethane from CO₂ on a Cu Mesopore Electrode, Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 56 (2017) 796-800. doi:10.1002/anie.201610432.
- [114] Y. Mi, S. Shen, X. Peng, H. Bao, X. Liu, J. Luo, Selective Electroreduction of CO₂ to C₂ Products over Cu₃N-Derived Cu Nanowires, CHEMELECTROCHEM. 6 (2019) 2393-2397. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/celc.201801826.
- [115] S.Y. Lee, S.Y. Chae, H. Jung, C.W. Lee, D.L.T. Nguyen, H. Oh, B.K. Min, Y.J. Hwang, Controlling the C₂₊ product selectivity of electrochemical CO₂ reduction on an electrosprayed Cu catalyst, J.

MATER CHEM A. 8 (2020) 6210-6218. doi:10.1039/C9TA13173F.

- [116] H.S. Jeon, S. Kunze, F. Scholten, B. Roldan Cuenya, Prism-Shaped Cu Nanocatalysts for Electrochemical CO₂ Reduction to Ethylene, ACS CATAL. 8 (2017) 531-535. doi:10.1021/acscatal.7b02959.
- [117] Z. Wang, Y. Zhang, E.C. Neyts, X. Cao, X. Zhang, B.W.L. Jang, C. Liu, Catalyst Preparation with Plasmas: How Does It Work? ACS CATAL. 8 (2018) 2093-2110. doi:10.1021/acscatal.7b03723.
- [118] X. Liu, X. Wang, B. Zhou, W. Law, A.N. Cartwright, M.T. Swihart, Size-Controlled Synthesis of Cu₂-xE (E = S, Se) Nanocrystals with Strong Tunable Near-Infrared Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance and High Conductivity in Thin Films, ADV. FUNCT. MATER. 23 (2013) 1256-1264. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201202061.
- [119] Y. Zhou, F. Che, M. Liu, C. Zou, Z. Liang, P. De Luna, H. Yuan, J. Li, Z. Wang, H. Xie, H. Li, P. Chen, E. Bladt, R. Quintero-Bermudez, T. Sham, S. Bals, J. Hofkens, D. Sinton, G. Chen, E.H. Sargent, Dopant-induced electron localization drives CO₂ reduction to C₂ hydrocarbons, NAT CHEM. 10 (2018) 974-980. doi:10.1038/s41557-018-0092-x.

Biography

Wangxiang Ye is a Master's degree candidate in College of Materials and Chemistry at China Jiliang University after receiving his bachelor's degree from College of Optical and Electronic Technology His research focuses on photo-electrocatalytic reduction of carbon dioxide on copper based catalyst.



Dr. Xiaolin Guo completed her Ph.D. studies at Zhejiang University in 2019. Then, she joined China Jiliang University as a lecturer. Her research focuses on the design and preparation of functional materials and catalysts for heterogeneous catalysis, electrochemical energy storage and conversion, such as hydrogen fuel purification and air pollution elimination, CO_2 electrochemical reduction and the anode materials of lithium ion battery.



Dr. Tingli Ma received her Ph.D. degree in 1999 from the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science of Kyushu University, Japan. She then joined the National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology as a Postdoctoral Researcher. She worked as a professor at Dalian University of Technology, China from 2007 to 2018. She is currently working at China Jiliang University and Kyushu Institute of Technology, Japan. She leads research teams studying inorganic and organic solar cells and other related projects, including development of catalysts, hydrogen production and nano-semiconductor materials. Dr. Ma has published more than 200 papers in peer-reviewed journals.

